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New Boston, HIL

HIST

NOTE:  calculate date from the town history.

FILE:  copied to suicide file.  Classified for now as a suicide, but no date yet.

Date of inquest:



Coroner or j.p.:



Town of inquest:



Location of inquest:

Category:

SUI HANG unc / poss HOM / uncertain

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


Weapon / means / injuries:  


Circumstances / position / location:  


Summons:  


Verdict / cause of death:   


Indictment?:  

Source:  

Cogswell, History of New Boston, New Hampshire (1864), 228:  "The wife of Capt. Gray hung herself, on the night of the installation of Rev. Solomon Moor, in the house now owned by Daniel Dodge.  Gray had been a sea-captain, and foul play was suspected, as the knot in the rope around her neck was a genuine sailor knot.  When asked why he did not cut her down when he first found her, replied, that 'he put his hand to her mouth and her breath was cold; so he knew she was dead."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Deceased:

Mrs. ___ Gray

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:




Occupation:

wife of a former sea captain

Town:


New Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Class of death:   

Class of crime:   

Relationship:    

Motive:  


Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other Legal records:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1802, Dec. 24




Surry, CHE

HIST

Class:   do not count

Crime:   prob. LEGAL CHIARIVARI

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Lt. John McCurdy falsely accused of m. Mr. Samuel Meservey


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  Hist:  The stage coaches, passenger & freight, stopped and put up at JM's tavern daily.  During the fall of 1802, SM, "a seaman, reputed to have had considerable money came along and began work shaving shingles for Mr. mcCurdy with whom he worked until the night of Dec. 24, 1802 when he suddenly disappeared, and soon after McCurdy was accused of murdering him for his money.  Tradition says he was buried in the cellar, in the South mill-pond, and even in the Lily pond on top of Surry Mountain.  Two articles in his defense appeared in the Keene Sentinel during 1803, from which Mr. McCurdy proves Meservey was seen after the above date in Lempster, N. H., and also in Concord, Mass.  From what can now be learned, 'suspicion' ran high and many believed a crime had been committed, yet no one was ever arrested, and we are inclined to give the accused the 'benefit of the doubt.'"  "It was the means not only of drivin McCurdy out of business, but out of town."


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Kingsbury, History of Surry, New Hampshire (1925), 260-1.

Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Lt. John McCurdy

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

farmer, merchant, inkeeper, prosperous business

Town:


Surry
"living at No. 12"

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Mr. Samuel Meservey

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

seaman

Town:


transient

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1804, Jan. or Feb.





Troy, CHE

P

CT

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  Levi Haskell & Jonathan Lawrence, Jr. m. Seth Lucus


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  Caverly, Troy, 277-280:  in the winter of 1818, a barn formerly owned by Levi Haskell burned.  A small mound of earth discovered beneath where the haymow was.  Human bones buried within.  Suspected that they were the remains of Seth Lucus, a traveller who was last seen alive in the winter of 1804 at the hotel of Christopher Harris in Troy [then Marlboro].  SL was interested in purchasing a farm & had a large amount of money on his person (he was travelling from Provincetown, MA to the home of his in-law, Joseph Nimblet, in Woodstock, VT).  Left the hotel in company of LH & JLJr. to examine a farm that LH proposed to sell him.  The suspicion had long prevailed that the two men had murdered SL & stolen his money, since LH, shortly after SL's disappearance, had more money in his possession than he could account for.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  1/11/1819 j.p. examination:  suspects held for the grand jury.  5/1819t:  jailed "on suspicion of murder."  bnf by grand jury:  "insufficient evidence."

Source:  

Che. Co. CF:  5/1819t, misc. papers, "A List of Prisoners within the gaol in Keene, May Term 1819"


Abial M. Caverly, An Historical Sketch of Troy [New Hampshire] . . . 1764 to 1855 (Keene:  New Hampshire Sentinel Office, 1859), 277-280.

Newspaper:

New Hampshire Sentinel (Keene):  5/8/1819:  HOMICIDE:  bnf against the person, who had been jailed in January after examination before Elijah Dunbar, Esq on suspicion of murder in Troy 14 or 15 yrs since.  Grand jury found no bill at Superior Court in Charlestown (May term, 1819).


NH PATRIOT:  3/31/1818:  POSSIBLE HOMICIDE:  in Troy, Cheshire Co.  advertized that remains of a human person discovered at place where a barn stood, which had been burned the past winter.  Current opinion:  death occasioned by unlawful means & body concealed in that place.  About 14 yrs ago a stranger disappeared near that town & enquiry made for him--but his name & residence not recollected.  Selectment ask for information.


NEW HAMPSHIRE PATRIOT:  2/2/1819:  the Troy murder case reported lst in 1818.  Two suspects examined before Elijah Dunbar in Keene on account of mysterious disappearance of a stranger in Troy some 14-15 yrs ago, whose bones were supposed found in the ashes of a barn.  One suspected committed to jail, the other bonding to appear at the next term of the Superior Court of Cheshire Co.  [FCab, 1/30]

Census:  
1800C:  


LH:   CHE 131  Fitzw. M 26 // F 10,26


JL:   CHE 200  Marlb. M 16,45 // F 0,10,10,10,16,45


JLJr. CHE 201  Marlb. M 0,10,16 // F 16

1810C:  


neither LH nor JLJr.

Genealogy:

M. T. Stone, Historical Sketch of the Town of Troy, New Hampshire, . . . 1764-1897  (Keene:  Sentinel Printing Co., n.d.).


Seth Lucus (MTS, 235-8):  son-in-law [or brother-in-law?] of Joseph Nimblet of Woodstock, VT.  Headed from Provincetown, MA to Woodstock, VT with a large sum of money.  Evidently hoped to buy a farm in Vt.


Jonathan Lawrence, Jr. (MTS, 44, 69-70):  lived on the Forbes place in south Marlboro & in 1804 purchased the Sindey A. Butler farm from Hugh Thompson.  Lived there until near the close of his life, when he went to live with his brother William.  //  JLSr. was from Weston, MA.  He & his brother Daniel moved to Troy.  JLSr. came to Troy in 1777.  He m. Lucy Moore of Sudbury, MA.  Lived in a log house for many years, & then built a better house.  Not active in town affairs.  Lived in southeast school district in 1794.

Accused 1:  

Levi Haskell

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[39]

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

farmer (owned his own farm)
hhld

Town:


Troy

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Jonathan Lawrence, Jr.

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[25]

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

farmer (owned his own farm)
hhld

Town:


Troy

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Seth Lucus

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[farmer -- was headed to buy land]

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1805, April 22  




Hollis, HIL

P

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE MOTHER & SISTER by SON / BROTHER

Motive:  MENTAL ILLNESS

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:



Time of day:
between 7am & 9am

Days to death:  0


HOM:  John Pennell Kendrick m. Hannah Kendrick Jr. "the younger" & Hannah Kendrick Sr. "the widow"


Weapon:  a piece of iron from a pair of tongs, a cane, a beetle, a chisel, & a new leg for a chair


Circumstances:  blows to the head, hands, arms, & other parts of the body, & mortal wounds in the bowels, at the house of JPK [aka the house of HK Sr.]  HK Jr. languished 6 hours before she died.


Inquest:  i.d. 4/22/1805, Joseph F. Eastman, cor.  Verdict:  JPK, an "insane & distracted person," killed them.


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  jailed in Amherst jail.  Died in jail.  no proceedings.



NOTE:  inquest file, 5/13/1790:  Daniel Kendrick committed suicide by hanging at the house of widow Hannah Kendrick.  ncm

Source:  
Hil. Co. CF:  Box 546033:  inquest

Newspaper:

Farmer's Museum, 4/27/1805:  from the Amherst Cabinet:  dtl Hollis, NH:  Widow Kendrick (73) found dead on the floor of her house, "her head beaten to pieces & there weltering in her blood."  Her daughter (age 40) beside her, who has since also died.  The perpetrator:  the widow's son, JPK (age 30), "in a fit of insanity."  He, with the mother & sister, "constituted the family."


Farmer's Museum, 5/4/1805:  dtl Amherst, 4/30:  Inquest.  The son for some years had symptoms of insanity, "but had generally been able to conduct his business with prosperity; - and, when well, was sober & regular in his deportment."  A few days before "catastrophe, symptoms more alarming appeared."  The neighbors called & spoke with the mother & sister, but, although they recognized the problem, "were unwilling anything should be mentioned to him, or that it should be generally known."  Their reluctance stemmed from the "severe sufferings" the family had experienced from insanity, "it having prematurely and unhappily terminated the lives of the father & two sons."  Mother & sister "doated on this only remaining son & brother, perhaps to a fault; & were therefore unwilling his failings should be made public."


   Early on the morning of 4/22, 2 neighbors called "to make inquiries, & lend their assistance."  Found the son in the same condition "& attending some concerns of the family retired."  Two hours later, at 9am, the son appeared at a neighbor's, with his hands covered with blood.

 
  The old lady was dead on the floor, the sister in a chair, in "still more deplorable condition," cuts & bruises all over her head & body.  d. 6 hours later.  Weapons:  the leg of a chair, cane, hammer, & a pair of tongs (which were broken in the "fray").

  
  Coroner's verdict:  insane & distracted.  Jailed.


   Editor:  "a solemn warning against allowing insane distracted persons the privilege of doing mischief, by permitting them to go at liberty. - We think it worthy of legislative attention."  Seems that JPK will not live long.  [[no cause given]]


Farmer's Museum, 5/25/1805:  JPK died in Amherst jail.


Farmer's Cabinet, 4/30/1805:  JPK "although distracted, he at times appears conscious of what he has done.  He refuses to wear any of the clothes he had on when the deed was committed, because he says they are stained with innocent blood."  Editor:  describes JPK as "wretched."  While he lives, "must be an object of pity and compassion."


FC 1805:  4/23 & 4/30:  HOM in NH:  HIL:  notices of the Kendrick homicide in Hollis.  5/21:  notice he had died on Sunday morning.  [& DG 4/27/1805]  //  
VGaz, 5/6:  The Kendrick HOm in NH mentioned.


BGAZ 5/31 & 6/7/1790:  SUI in NH:  dtl Ports., 5/22:  Hollis, a man in that town hanged himself in his barn.  //  dtl Worcester, 6/3:  Mr. Kendrick of Hollis, NH, on 5/13, had been "for some time deprived of his reason."  A person "much esteemed" -- (30) w & 4 small ch.

Newspaper:  

Census:  


1800C:  Hannah Kendrick of Hollis, p. 544:  [01200-00011-00]

Genealogy:  

Accused:  

John Pennell Kendrick


Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


30

Literate:




Marital Status:  
single

Children:

no

Occupation:

housewright
no hhld

Town:


Hollis; lived with his mother & sister

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Hannah Kendrick, Sr. "the widow"

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


73

Literate:




Marital Status:

widow

Children:

yes, at least two

Occupation:



hhld

Town:


Hollis

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Hannah Kendrick, Jr. "the younger"

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


40

Literate:




Marital Status:

single

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Hollis

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1805, Dec. 12  





Chester, ROC

P

CT

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / M-2  [& AIK of another]

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  DEBT / COLLECTING ON A NOTE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:
 evening

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Peter Severance m. Benjamin Whitcher  // & AIK on [John H?] Barnes


Weapon:  gun [assumed a rifle or musket from context]

Circumstances:  gunshot to breast at door of PS's dwelling.  d. inst.


Inquest:  i.d. 12/13/1805, Benjamin Chase Pike, gent., cor.  At the home of THomas McMaster in Chester.  Verdict:  murdered by PS.  Witnesses:  Benjamin Melvin, John Melvin, John H Barnes, Samuel Farnum, Henry West.


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  2/1806t:  ind. for murder.  pNG  fG of mansl.  1 yr., c., $1000 bond for good behavior for 3 yr.

Source:  

Roc. Co. SCJ:  11:  498-9


Roc. Co. CF:  #25526, inquest.  #25426:  prisoners list.  #25516

Testimony:  at inquest


Henry West [signed]:  on 12/12 "Mr Melvins sd they were going to Peter Severeance on Business about a note when we got there Barns had gone forward into the house.  He came to the Door a gun was fired out of the house.  I ran from it.  About the same time Whitcer was killed.  I found him Dead about twenty rod from Severins House."


Samuel Farnum [signed]:  "seven of us walk from the Turn Pike Down to Peter Severences on the Evening of the 12th of Dec 1805.  Barns was in the House and come to the Door and Opend it Peter Severance set in the Bed had a gun in his hand.  Brought the gun up to his face Presented it to Barns and Benjn Whitcer even in his Direction __ the sd Peter Severence find it wounded Born and shot Whitier in his Right breast I was walking by him with my hand on his shoulder.  Whitcer sd he was shot he was then carried twenty rods from the house.  We then found no life in him."

Newspaper:

Farmer's Museum, 1/3/1806:  from Amherst Cabinet:  in December, in the evening, Mr. Peter Severance of Chester fired at & killed "inhumanly" Mr. Benjamin Wicher of Boscawen & badly wounded another.  Jailed in Exeter.


Farmer's Museum, 3/14/1806:  Trial.  from NH Gazette:  2 days, courtroom packed, so the trial was moved to Rev. Dr. Buckminster's meeting house.  lst gallery packed with ladies.  Respectable crowd, good conduct.


DOVER GAZ 12/21/1805:  HOM in NH:  T evening last, Mr. Peter Severance of Chester, "fired and killed" Mr. Benj. Wicher of Boscawen.  NH Gaz.  [& FC 1805:  12/24]

Census:  


1800C:  p. 765:  Peter Severence of Chester [21001-21201-00]; but no Whitchers in Chester or Boscawen [a Benj. Willet in Boscawen, p.479 [11001-11110-00], but unlikely to be the same person]


1810C:

Peter Severance  ROC  Chester  332

M 0, 0, 10, 45  //  F 10, 45

no Barns or Barnes in Chester

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Peter Severance

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[60]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:

husbandman

hhld

Town:


Chester

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Benjamin Whitcher

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

laborer

Town:


Boscawen

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1805, Dec. 17  





Haverhill, GRA

P

CT

HIST

TRACT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / MURDER / (in heat of passion) / ATT SUI

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  HONOR

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:
between 8pm & 9pm [NHGaz says morning]

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Josiah Burnham m. Capt. Joseph Starkweather, Jr. & Russell Freeman, Esq.


Weapon:  sheath knife


Circumstances:  JSJr. stabbed in the left side, RF stabbed in the right side of belly.  Both d. on 12/18.  Witnesses:  Edmund Carleton (physician, Haverhill), John L. Coriss (gent., Haverhill), Jacob Trussell (husbandman, St. Johnsbury, VT), & Nathaniel Kimball (minor).


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  5/1806t:  ind. for murder.  pNG  fG  DEATH.  to hang on 7/15/1806.  postponed to 8/12/1806 to allow him time to prepare for death.  "asked . . . if he has ought to say why sentence of death should not be pronounced against him, replied that he had nothing to say."


NOTE:  11/1803t:  ASSAULT / RIOT:  Asher Ladd (husbandman, St. Johnsbury); & William Huggin (clothier), Joseph Persons, Jr. (clothier), & Jeremiah Cross (hatter) (all of Haverhill) on 2/2/1803 a. Josiah Burnham (husbandman, Haverhill).  ind.  5/1804t:  tried.  Gra. Co. SCJ, 5:  220; & Gra. Co. CF:  file.

Source:  

"An analysis or outline, of the life and character of Josiah Burnham, who was sentenced to death . . . for the murder of Russell Freeman and Joseph Starkweather." Hanover, NH: Moses Davis, c. 1806.  (at American Antiquarian Society)  McDade #145


Gra. Co. SCJ, 6:  158-9


Gra. Co. CF:  file

Newspaper:

NHGaz, 12/31/1805:  ditto.


Farmer's Museum, 1/3/1806:  fr. Dartmouth Gazette.  On the evening of 12/17/1805, between 8pm & 9pm, "in the debtors' apartment of the prison in Haverhill," JB murdered RF, Esq. & Capt. Joseph Starkweather.  "a brutal assassin in human form" -- "in cold blood & without the least provocation" -- "would draw down sentiments of reproach & execration on a B___ or Malay, in his native country & which must chill the blood which warms the heart of a Christian, or even a Mahometan." -- "unprecedented affair" -- "a monster" // by contrast, the conduct of RF & JS in prison was "uniformly mild"  "it is hoped that the avenging arm of justice will rid the world of such an outcast from humanity."  "We are concerned to add, he is yet insensible of the crime he has committed and (horrid to relate) says his God and his Christ will justify him."


   Freeman was seated on a stool in from of the stove that warmed the room & JS was in a closet attached to the room.  JB attacked RF from behind, who gave the alarm.  [NHGAZ, stabbed RF in the bowels, "which immediately began to gush out."]  JS entered, defended himself with a club of wood, but was mortally wounded to the left arm & thorax.  [NHGAZ:  JB stabbed JS in the side, then tried to cut his own throat near collar bone; then JB renewed the attack on JS & stabbed him 4 times more.  Then flew at RS & stabbed him 3 times more, as RS "was sitting with his bowels in his hands."  Then JB tried again to take him own life.]  JB then tried suicide.  The jailer was next door with the keys, so it took time to get into the cell.  JS d. 1 am. the next day.  RF d. 10am the next day.


Farmer's Museum, 7/11/1806:  to be executed next Tues.  "he has shewn no signs of patience or remorse."


Farmer's Museum, 7/18/1806:  reprieve by governor until August.


Farmer's Museum, 8/22/1806:  Execution:  the full story (from the Dartmouth Gazette).  Crowd of 10,000.  JB broke down & said he was sorry.  "I would caution I would exhort you all not to be governed by your passions."  "I am sensible I did wrong. - I am a wretched spectacle to the world."  Had once been a universalist -- blames his act on that error.  "I have been full of trouble in my mind, but could not cry; let me ever have so much trouble, I could not do that."  [[NOTE:  a formulaic remark about not crying, and / or a revealing one?]]  JB cut the cord holding the plank where he stood with the knife he had used to kill RF & JS.


FC 1805:  12/31:  report on Burnham (Grafton Co. jail) hom.  [& DG 12/28/1805]  //  VG 1806:  1/13:  HOM in NH:  GRA:  newspaper becomes Vermont Gazette, an Epitome of the World.  Report on the Josiah Burnham/ Freeman-Starkweather murders.

Newspaper:  

Census:  


1800C:  Haverhill, p. 397:  Josiah Burnham [00001-00001-00].



Hanover, p. 394:  Russell Freeman [21001-01210-00]



no Starkweathers in NH.


1790C:  no Starkweathers in NH.

Genealogy:


William F. Whitcher, History of the Town of Haverhill, New Hampshire (1919), 362-5:  on the murder.


John King Lord, A History of the Town of Hanover, N.H. (Hanover:  printed for the Town by Dartmouth Press, 1928):  on Russell Streeter, 12, 13, 21, 155, 156, 218, 219.



Selectman, 1783; Clerk & Treasurer, 1787-9; Town Rep., 1795-7; j.p., 1784; Committee to establish schools, 1790

Accused:  

Josiah Burnham

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


62

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

("well known character"):  had been a land surveyor, school master, blacksmith, speculator; in court records, a laborer (or husbandman)
hhld

Town:


Haverhill

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Joseph Starkweather, Jr.

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w
Gender:

m

Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

(prominent citizen) / [gentleman]

Town:


Haverhill

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

captain in the militia

Victim 2:  

Russell Freeman

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[60]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

merchant (prominent citizen)
hhld

Town:


Hanover

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

former speaker of the NH House, member of the Executive Council for 5 yrs.

1806, Sept. 30





Alstead, CHE

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   SUS / LEGAL CHIARIVARI / NAT / not a homicide

Rela:    RELATIVE by STEPMOTHER

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:
no
Time of day:


Days to death:  1


HOM:  Margaret Fay m. Benjamin Fay


Weapon:  arsenic or ratsbane.  d. 10/1


Circumstances:  at home


Inquest:  yes


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  none

Source:  
Newspaper:  


FM 10/17/1806 [ditto Farmer's Cabinet:  10/28/1806]:  SUSPICIOUS DEATH in NH:  at Alstead, T morning, 10/1, Benj Fay (22), son Capt. N.  M evening retired to bed in good health as usual, died next morning.  "The suddenness of his death was matter of considerable curiosity.  Non suspicions, however, we believe, were entertained of his having died an unnatural death till several days after the interment.  (sic)  It is said to be a fact that a small quantity of arsenic was procured for the purpose of killing rats; and also that on Monday afternoon he was noticed to be uncommonly thirsty, &c. &c."  "some respectable inhabitants" called for inquest; large # of physicians performed chemical experiments on contents of stomach & other exams.  Verdict:  death by arsenic.  Ed. won't repeat current suspicions, to prevent injury to the innocent.  FM won't name the suspects.  [[appears that the coroner's verdict was homicide]]


FM 1/2/1807:  examination of the suspect.  "not the least evidence"  "a fair acquittal"


VG 1807:  1/13:  runs a brief notice of the Fay exhumation in NH & the 'finding' of poison.


FM 3/6/1807:  examination in State v. Margaret Fay.  MF was arrested and examined on 12/26/1806.  A letter to the ed. from Nathan Smith, Professor of Chemistry and Medicine at Dartmouth College, who was to testify for the defense but was not heard.  NS upset by rumors and slanders against MF, and wants to set the record straight.  NS writes "for the purpose of exposing the ignorance and folly of the physicians who signed the certificate that the man came to his death by poison."  NS says that BF died of natural causes.


BF d. 9/29, exhumed 11 days later.  GREAT:  CHECK later on the experiments that the physicians performed in an effort to determine whether BF was poisoned.  GREAT EVIDENCE ON FORENSICS.


NS:  BF's symptoms were of apoplectic fits, not arsenic poisoning.  


--No evacuations from stomach or bowels, no convulsions of pain or distress.  [EXCELLENT discussion of symptoms of poisoning.]  


--Decomposition of the body was quite normal.  Corpse was not unusual.


--arsenic is volatile.  Boiling the contents of the stomach would have evaporated it.  The apple in the stomach would cause the appearance of acid.


FM 3/20/1807:  another letter to the ed. that rebutts NS.  Sarcasm & ridicule.


Farmer's Cabinet:  3/17/1807:  Ed. -- "false and malicious reports" led to the investigation.  N. S. Prentiss, Esq., "a ci-devant common pleas judge in Cheshire county" called for the exhumation.  Physicians:  Carpenter, Badger, Baker, Brooks, Sparhawk, & Holland.  //  Carpenter the chief investigator & chemist.  Claimed his tests proved arsenic or "rat's bane" was present.  Mrs. Fay, the victim's mother-in-law, arrested.  

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Margaret Fay

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Alstead

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Benjamin Fay

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


22

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:


Alstead

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1808, Feb. 11  





Epping, ROC

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:
10pm

Days to death:  1


HOM:  Benjamin Cilley m. Abner Clough, Jr.


Weapon:  horse whip


Circumstances:  whipped, mortal wound to left side of neck.  d. 2/12 at Loudon.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  2/1809t:  ind. for murder.  pNG  fNG

Source:  

Roc. Co. SCJ, 12:  376-7


Roc. Co. CF:  #30049

Newspaper:  

NHG 2/16 - 3/ 1/1808:  nothing

NHG 2/ 7 - 2/28/1809:  nothing

Census:  

1800C:  Loudon, p. 837:  Abner Clough [10001-01011-00] & Abner Clough Jr. [01110-00111-00].  Northfield, p. 844:  10010-30010-00].  Nottingham, p. 855:  Benjamin Cilley [00010-10010-00]

1810C:

BC:  ROC 137 Nottingham
M 0,26 // F 0,10,26

AC:  ROC 432 Loudon

M 0,10,26 // F 16,26


AC:  ROC 458 Northfield
M 10,26 // F 10,10,45

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Benjamin Cilley

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[38]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:

innholder

hhld

Town:


Nottingham

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Abner Clough, Jr.

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[38]

Literate:




Marital Status:

[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:




hhld

Town:


Loudon or Northfield

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1808, May 3  





Rochester, STR

CT

Class:   certain / modern mansl. / negligence

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Robert Calder m. Archelaus Woodman


Weapon:  physical force


Circumstances:  thrown from his horse, skull fracture, broken ribs.  d. 5/4 (in 6 hours).  RC forced AW onto a horse against his will & the horse threw AW on his head.  AW was a "sick weak infirm & impotent man"


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  2/1809t:  ind. for mansl.  pNG  fNG 

Source:  

Str. Co. SCJ, 8:  327

Newspaper:  

Census:  

1800C:


Durham, p. 959:  Archelaus Woodman [00100-00000-00]


Wakefield:  not in census, no Robert Calder in NH

1810C:


Robert Calder  STR 587 Wakefield


M 0,0,0,10,26 // F 0,20,26,45


a William Woodman in Dover STR 863; no others in Dover or Middleton

Genealogy:


Whitworth:  Dover Sun, 7/7/1804:  CAS DRO:  yesterday afternoon, in the river at Dover, while attempting to bathe, Mr. James Woodman (19), son of Mr. Archelaus Woodman of Middleton.


Dover Sun, 7/7/1808:  d. in Dover, Tuesday night, Capt. Archelaus Woodman of Middleton.

Accused:  

Robert Calder

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[33]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:

husbandman / trader

hhld

Town:


Wakefield

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Archelaus Woodman

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[29]

Literate:




Marital Status:

[s]

Children:

[no]

Occupation:

sickly, infirm

hhld

Town:


Durham [or Middleton, in the Dover SUN]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1812, March 24 




Haverhill, GRA

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  2


HOM:  Moses Duty m. his wife, Elizabeth Duty


Weapon:  hoe


Circumstances:  hoe to the head & side, threw her to the ground.  d. 3/26.  [yard v & a]


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  5/1813t:  ind. for mansl.  "did kill & slay . . . feloniously & in the fury of his mind."  pNG.  dism.

Source:  

Gra. Co. SCJ, 9:  538


Gra. Co. CF:  file

Newspaper:  

Census:  
1800C:  Haverhill, GRA 398  M 45  //  F 45

1810C:  Haverhill, GRA 320  M 45  //  F 45

NH 1776 census:  Windham, ROC, signed the Revolutionary Association compact.  NHStPapers, v. 30:  164

Genealogy:

Ethan Allen Doty, The Doty-Doten Family in America (Brooklyn, NY:  pub. for the author, 1897).  [several Moses Dotys:  none fit]


William F. Whitcher, History of the Town of Haverhill, New Hampshire (n.p., 1919).  No reference to MD.  Not in section on murders.


J. Q. Bittinger, History of Haverhill, N.H. (Haverhill:  Cohos Steam Press, 1888).  No reference to MD.  No section on crime.  Checked town histories & cemetery records, etc.

Accused:  

Moses Duty

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[67]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
married

Children:




Occupation:

yeoman

[farmer] hhld

Town:


Haverhill

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Elizabeth Duty

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[67]

Literate:




Marital Status:

married

Children:




Occupation:

[farm wife]

Town:


Haverhill

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



 [1815]






Meredith, CAR
[1817]

TRACT

P

NOTE:  responsible for 2 homicides circa 1815 and circa 1817

Class:   probable
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    NONDOM
Motive:  ROBBERY
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:

Time of day:
1st:  afternoon.  2nd:  9am
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Samuel Green and ___ A___ m. a peddlar

HOM:  Samuel Green and ___ A___ m. a French traveller

Weapon:  1st:  club.  2nd:  pistol.

Circumstances:  murdered and robbed an unarmed pedlar on the highway, then robbed and murdered an unarmed Frenchman on the highway.

Inquest:  


Court proceedings:  none – arrested & convicted of grand larceny in MA in 1818
Source:  


Hearn (1999: 208-9)

Green, Samuel (1822) Life of Samuel Green, Executed at Boston, April 25, 1822, for the Murder of Billy Williams, a Fellow Convict with Green in the State Prison.  Boston: David Felt. (at New York Historical Society)  47 pp.

16:  HOM ROBBERY:  CIRCA 1815:  first murder, with A.:  back home in Meredith, NH:  “One day we were in a store, where a pedlar happened to come in, who had a box of jewelry and other articles of value on his back.  While the pedlar was in the store trading for some of his jewelry, A---- took me aside, and asked me how much money I thought the man had about him.  Not being able to judge, he said he thought he had the value of a thousand dollars, and asked me if I was willing to waylay him.  I made some objections at first, but as he continued to persuade me, and said a dead cock never crowed, I at last consented.  About half a mile from this store, was a large swamp by the side of a pond—the pedlar had to pass through this swamp on his road.  When the sun was about two hours high, in the afternoon, we saw him almost ready to start from the store, and accordingly went down to the swamp, there we waited his arrival, having provided ourselves each with a good club.  We had not waited long, before he made his appearance.  As soon as he came up to us, we stepped out, knocked him down, dragged him out of the road into the bushes, where we soon put an end to his life.  Having secured his trunk and what money he had about him, amounting to about 900 dollars, we took him from this place, carried him about a quarter of a mile, tied some large stones to the body, and threw it into the pond, where it sunk.  This pedlar was a steady, sober man, and always carried the best of jewelry with him, and used to travel, generally about one in three months, through my town. . . .  We waited in the woods till dark, then went about a mile from where we lived, and hid the trunk by the side of a mountain.  I now went again to see the daughter of the widow before mentioned, made her a present of a suit of clothes, and also of some ear and finger rings, part of the property of the pedlar, and likewise a gold necklace.”

29-30:  HOM ROBBERY:  CIRCA 1817:  returned home with his friend A.  SG visited his mother & A visited his friends, & went to P.’s [their friend who gave them counterfeit currency to pass, etc.], “but we took care to keep ourselves out of sight for a week.”  Stayed at the tavern of a friend of P.’s, “and we knew he would not expose us.”  Passed the time “agreeably,” but lost money gambling and had “spent nearly all our money.


Mr. P. one day informed us of a Frenchman who was bound for Montreal, and by his appearance would be a good fowl for us to pick.  The Frenchman had put up at the tavern that night, and was going on his journey the next morning. . . .  Mr. P asked us if we could afford to give him any thing for his information; we told him that would depend upon what luck we met with.  We went out and agreed upon a plan, concluded to go as far as the bridge . . . and attack him near the same place where I escaped into the woods, with the loss of my hat.  [[after a previous burglary went awry]]  We were each of us armed with a pair of pistols and a large knife, and waited in this dismal place till about nine o’clock the next morning, when he made his appearance. . . .  A----- went out and seized the horse by the bridle; as soon as this was done, I drew out a pistol, presented it to his breast and told him to dismount; the man was very much frightened . . . .  The poor man dismounted, and fell upon his knees, and begged us for God’s sake to spare his life.  I can truly say that my heart bled to hear his entreaties and had I been alone, should have suffered him to proceed on his journey; but A----- said it was no time to hesitate, and bade me to dispatch business.  To my eternal shame I shot the mean through the heart, and dragged him out of the road into the bushes, while A----- shot the horse in the head.  We had provided ourselves with cords on purpose, so took off the portmanteau and fastened stones to the horse, then tumbled him from the ledge into the pond, where he sunk to the bottom.  We then returned to the man; and in his pocket we found a gold repeating watch, and in his portmanteau, money, in gold and silver to the amount of 1700 dollars, we also found in his pockets a pair of brass pocket pistols, which the man had not the courage to use; we tied stones to him and his portmanteau, and they shared the same fate with the horse.  We staid in the woods that day, and returned at night to Mr. P.’s, informed him of our success, and gave him 200 dollars for his information, with which he was very well satisfied.”  Remained in town a few days longer, then left for Bradford, Vermont, where they bought horses, & went to Schenectady via Albany.

3-5:  “I was born in the Town of Meredith, County of Strafford, and State of New Hampshire, of poor, but respectable parents.  They endeavored to give me a good education, but to no purpose; for I always had an aversion to books, was lazy and negligent, and continually bent upon mischief.  When five or six years of age, my mother sent me to a school, about a mile from the house, giving me cake and cheese, in a handkerchief, for my dinner; but being too proud to carry it, I frequently threw it away, and fasted the whole day.  At other times, I passed whole days in the fields, rather than go to school, for which I always received a severe flogging when detected, although my parents were too indulgent for my good.  When at school, I was often in mischief, and punished for my folly; by such tricks as pinning the clothes of several girls together, to set the whole in an uproar, I got the ill will of the master, and learned nothing.  This course continued until I was eight years old; when being so mischievous, my parents, rather than correct me, sent me to live with a Mr. L.-----, where I had not been long, before I was detected in stealing money from one of the girls, and was severely whipped.  The oftener I was whipped, the worse I grew, and determined on revenge, by pulling up a bed of onions, and another of poppies, in the garden; in consequence, I was again whipped, to make me confess, as no person saw me; but I resolutely denied it to the last.  Being still further bent on having satisfaction, I watched an opportunity, caught a small dog belonging to the family, and threw him into the well, which was fifty feet deep; the putrefaction soon rendered the water offensive and useless; this put my master to the expense of cleaning the well, and forced us to bring water half a mile; being suspected, the whole of this work was required of me, so that I had the worst of it.  I lived here two years; when one day, being at work in the barn, pitching hay to the cattle, I saw an old sow seize a young lamb and tear it in pieces:  as several lambs had been, before, destroyed in the same way, I became enraged, did not stop to reflect, but plunged the fork into the hog’s belly, which soon killed her.  I want into the house, and informed my master that the hog had killed another lamb; to which he replied in a passion, and with an oath, ‘why did you not kill her?’—I answered, I have sir;-but when he found that I really had killed her, instead of being glad, and saying I had donne right, he gave me another severe whipping.  This I thought I did not deserve—and was so vexed, that I ran away, and returned to my parents, who instead of sending me back, as I feared, procured me another place, in the family of Mr. D_____, in Newhampton; here I behaved well, for one year.  I was sent to school, but learned very little, being always in mischief, and minding nothing but play; day after day, played truant, and was as often whipped, which still made me worse.  One day, I went to a blacksmith’s, to buy a jew’s harp—not finding him at home, I took one without leave.  On my return, I was whipped for running away.  The next day,. My master was informed of the theft, and whipped me again, ordered me to return the jew’s harp, and be back in an hour and a half, or he would repeat the whipping.  I overstaid the time, and he was as good as his word, making me ‘pay dear for the whistle.’  This severity was so great, that I ran home; but instead of meeting with a welcome reception from my parents; they carried me back again, and I received another whipping from my master.  I now determined to kill him; and the next day, when he had gone to mill, prepared the means.  He had a workshop, standing four or five feet from the ground, a large stone made a step to the door, which opened outwards.  Just before he came home, I placed a large stick of timber against the door, inside, and a broad axe on the top of it, that they might fall on him, when the door was opened; but for fear that it should fail of doing the business, I fixed the barn door in the same way, and put the pitchfork on the top, with the point downwards, so that I had great hopes of success.  When he came home, on opening the shop door, the fall of the timber sprained his shoulder; at the barn door, the fork wounded his foot:  thus he escaped from my traps, and was able to give me more severe drubbings.  To be revenged, I one day, split the locks of the hoops on the end of a hogshead of cider, so that it burst; they were deceived, and I escaped suspicion.  Being further bent on doing all the mischief I could, I found a man who would buy grain at half price, taking it at midnight, let down by a rope, from a chamber window.  In this way I kept myself in money, and lightened my master’s grain chest.  I also took butter from the cellar, and sometimes a whole cheese.  While here, I formed an acquaintance with A-----, who was a person after my own heart; he was older than myself, and experienced in vice—we passed our evenings and Sundays together, often robbing the farmers of their honey and water melons; of the former, taking whole hives at a time.  I now became so negligent, that my master placed no confidence in me.  As I as small, he thought me the fittest person, when he was planting, to put the beans, &c. in the corn hills; but instead of doing it as directed, I threw them into a woodchuck’s hole; therefore he seldom had beans and pumpkins of my planting.  This was discovered, by the seeds growing from the hole, and brought on me severe punishment.  I then ran away” to his uncle’s.  “My mother came after me, and carried me back to my old master-he was unwilling to receive me; but out of respect to my mother, consented to try me one more, on condition that I would mend my ways,” but that did not happen.  By accident the contents of a keg of molasses was missing.  SG was not responsible, but he was blamed.  His master cut 20 branches from an elm tree “and swore he would make me own it, or wear them out upon me.  Being determined to die, rather than own any thing of which I was not guilty, I was almost beaten to death, and carried the marks of the elm for a month.  In revenge, I set fire to the house; luckily for him, it was discovered in time to save the house.  The fire was kindled among some rags in the chamber, and passed for an accident—I was however, closely watched, and locked up every night.

It might be supposed, that I should, before this time, have been driven from the house; but I was an uncommon smart boy, always gay and cheerful, and could do more work than my master, so that he always had a hope of reforming me; but this task can be performed only by hemp, and his labor was all in vain.  In this manner I lived, till I was fourteen years old, when we parted.”
5:  SG spent three months with a new master & then returned home.  “My father was unable, and my mother never attempted to correct me, but by entreaties and tears.”  “I formed an acquaintance with a Mr. P----- . . . he knew my character, and took great pleasure in teaching me vice.  In the first place, he began to inform me how to break open stores; and promised, if I would follow his advice, to make a man of me.”  

6-7:  Soon SG was passing counterfeit currency for P and breaking into stores.  Went to work for Mr. F who gave him $6 a month, but he met his friend A on Sundays & kept stealing Mr. S’s boat & using it.  S lay in wait & confronted them one Sunday.  “He began to whip my friend A . . . .  I took three or four large stones, and came up behind Mr. S----- and told him if he did not let A----- go, I would beat out his brains with the stones.  He replied, he would flog us both.  I got behind him and struck him in the back with a stone . . . which knocked him down; . . . I threw a stone at him, which broke one of his arms.”  The assault was settled “by our old friend P-----, who paid ten dollars damages.”

7-8:  stayed with F for 4 months & went home that fall.  Hunted in the woods & kept the school “in an uproar with our folly” and learned nothing.  On one occasion at school, SG & A threw their small sled under the sled of other children for a prank, which broke the arm of one boy & the thigh of another.  They “did not mean to harm any one,” but the master flogged them.  “We did not intend to bear this unrevenged.  He boarded half a mile from the school house, and went twice a week to attend a singing school.  We way laid him one night, each having a good club, and as he was passing, we knocked him down, and tied him hand and foot. . . .  We contented ourselves with beating him to our hearts content; then stripping him of his coat, waistcoat, shirt and pantaloons, and tearing them to pieces before his face, we left him tied with his hands behind, entirely naked, in an extreme cold night.  We were well revenged, but we did not think proper to stay in the neighborhood after this adventure.”  Went to Guilford to his grandfather’s, where he had a number of cousins, 2 uncles & an aunt, “so that it took us a long time to pay then all a visit.  [probably January or February, 1813]

Being the first year of the war, a recruiting party, under Capt. Mason, was stationed in the neighborhood.”  

8-9:  SG & A signed on as the drummer & fifer – got drunk nearly every night, passed  counterfeit for P, and gambled.  
9:  HOM NONDOM INDIAN WOMEN by SOLDIERS probably 1813:  During the War of 1812, while he and his friend A. were serving as fifer and drummer for Captain Mason:  “On our arrival at Burlington, we messed with four others, furnished the whole mess with every thing they wanted, and were half drunk all the time.  The Captain placed us under guard every day, to keep us sober, or he would have been obliged to drill without music—he  saved us from many a flogging..  From here we went to Champlain, where we remained a short time, living the same way, and in addition went each night, half drunk, to a gambling house, in which we lost about three hundred dollars, half good and half passed money; the bad bills were one’s altered to five’s and ten’s, and passed as readily as any other.  We were here under guard most of the time for intoxication, but could always make some kind of music, though oftentimes very discordant.  Three or four squaws were killed; the company marched back to Burlington, was joined to another, and half the officers discharged.”

9-16:  desertion, re-enlistment for the bounty & immediate desertion, burglaries, passing counterfeit, sleeping with young women, always running out of money & committing crimes to get more.  Court martial for desertion & sentenced to 2 years at hard labor:  spent 3 months in jail before Captain Mason could prove his age & show that he had been too young to enlist; he was then released.  A scoundrel’s life:  arrested several times, but always broke out of jail.
16-29:  more of the same.  Spent time in Stanstead & St. Johns & Montreal, Canada, where they robbed a jewelry store & were caught by 6 Frenchmen who received a $500 reward.  Convicted & sentenced to death, but broke out again with help of A & they fled to Schnectady via Albany on horseback.  Then went to Middleton, VT, where they boarded with a private family, but spent most of their time gambling & drinking.  Cheated a farmer in a horse trade and was found out, so SG & A left once again for home.

30-47:  his life after these murders.
Newspaper:  

Essex Register 4/27/1822: 2:2
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Samuel Greene
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m


Age:


[18] [20] 
adult
[age 24 in 1821]


Literate:




Marital Status:  
s
Children:

none


Occupation:

laborer
Town:


transient
Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___
Ethnicity:

French
Race:


w
Gender:

m


Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1815, May 5  





Milton, STR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  MENTAL ILLNESS

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:
7am

Days to death:  0


HOM:  David Wallingford m. his wife, Sarah Wallingford


Weapon:  club (brace of a weaver's loom)


Circumstances:  several blows to the head in the house of DW.  SW was sitting at the table eating "breakfast" with Abigail Wallingford, when she was attacked.  "her head is so fractured & mangled that much of her blood & some of her brains are to be seen upon the floor of the house."


Inquest:  i.d. 5/5/1815, Jotham Nute, cor.  Wit:  Peter & Abigail Wallingford.  Verdict:  murder.


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  none  [insane]

Source:  

Str. Co. CF:  inquest

Newspaper:  

Census:  

1810C:  David Wallingford STR 774 Milton


M 0, 0, 26
F 0, 0, 26

1820C:  nothing

Genealogy:


Checked:  no town histories


Robert Sayward Canney, The Early Marriages of Strafford County, New Hampshire, 1630-1860:  Part II:  M-Z (Bowie, MD:  Heritage Books, 1995), p. 1008.  David Wallingford (d. 1815), son of Peter, m. 11/8/1789, by Rev. Joseph Hazen, to Sarah Couson.  Both of Rochester, NH.

Accused:  

David Wallingford

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[45]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
married

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:





hhld

Town:


Milton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Sarah Wallingford

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[45]

Literate:




Marital Status:

married

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:



Town:


Milton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1816, Sept. 25  




Durham, STR

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  GRUDGE / PREVIOUS QUARREL / ENCOUNTER in the ROAD

Intox?:  

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  1


HOM:  Timothy Emerson, Jr. m. James Lamos


Weapon:  club


Circumstances:  blow to left side of head.  d. 9/26/1816.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  2/1817t:  ind. for murder.  pNG  fG of mansl.  5 yr & $88c.  (completed his sentence)

Source:  

Str. Co. SCJ, 11:  55-57.

Newspaper:

10/12/1816:  HOM in NH:  FARMER'S CABINET:  dtn Dover, 10/1:  murder committed in Durham on W last by Timothy Emerson of Durham, who killed Mr. James Lamos.


"The deceased was driving his team in company with another person, when they were met by Emerson.  Between Lames and Emerson a quarrel had previously existed.  A few words passed, and Emerson struck Lamos a severe blow with the fist, and then took a stake from the fence, with which he gave Lamos a blow on the head, which terminated in death in about 27 hours.  Emerson would have repeated his blows but for the interposition of the third person.  A Coroner's Inquest was held on the body, whose verdict was, that 'He came to his death by violence.'"


Dover SUN, 10/1/1816


VGaz 1816:  10/22:  HOM in NH:  STR:  notice of "horrid murder" in Durham, NH by Timothy Emerson of James Lamos.  

Census:  

1810C:  


Col. TE of Durham (STR p. 550):  M 16, 16  F 0, 0, 45


No Lamos [Nathaniel Lammas, Sr. & Jr. of Dover, STR p. 852).

Genealogy:

Wentworth:  just the newsp. article

Accused:  

Timothy Emerson, Jr.

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


28

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:

[no]

Occupation:

yeoman


no hhld

Town:


Durham

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

James Lamos

Ethnicity:

unknown

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

[s]

Children:

[no]

Occupation:





no hhld

Town:


[Dover]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1818, Aug. 23  




Nottingham, ROC

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK [poss. SEXUAL ASSAULT]

Intox?:  

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  David Rundlett, Jr. & Samuel Langley m. Elizabeth McCoy


Weapon:  club


Circumstances:  club to the head behind the ear, one blow, strangled.  Witnesses:  Joseph Chesley, 3rd & Peter Hodgdon (of Durham); John Kelsey, Mary Kelsey, John Lucy, Jr., Timothy Hill, Hugh Kelsey, Joshua Finlin, Jr., Nathan French, Mary French, Jarole Cilley (of Nottingham); William Guy, John Emerson, Daniel Ladd, Mary Huckins, James Harvey, Anna Jackson, Samuel Langley, John Sandborn, Levi French, Mary French, James Thompson, Charles Rimlet, John Pike, John Noble (of Lee); Nabluy Hitton (of Exeter); Winthrop Folsome (of Newmarket); John Dow Jr. (of Epping);  David Emerson (of Newbury); Nathaniel Adams, Esq. (of Portsmouth); Samuel Aikin Jr. (of Chester).


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  11/1813t:  ind. for murder.  DR Jr.:  fNG.  SL:  np

Source:  

Roc. Co. SCJ, 16:  329-331


Roc. Co. CF:  #36690 & #36691

Newspaper:

FARMER'S CABINET:  9/6/1813:  HOM in NH:  dtl Exeter, August 31:  T last, body of Miss Elizabeth McCoy found in a river in the town of Nottingham, "mangled in the most shocking manner."  One of suspects arrested.  "forbear" making further comment at present.  [DOVER SUN 8/28/1813:  original article:  T last -- found in a river in the town of Lee [sic].  "The perpetrators of this savage deed, are yet undiscovered."]


FC 1813:  12/11:  David Rundlet acquitted at SCJ in Ports. of the murder of EM "from want of positive evidence, though circumstances left little doubt of his guilt."  NH Gazette  [DOVER SUN 12/4/1813:  ditto.]

Newspaper:  

Census:  

1810C:  


Samuel Langley of Durham (p. 546 STR).  M 10, 26 // F 10, 26, 45


Charles & Paul McCoy of Nottingham (ROC p. 133).  


John Rundlett, Esq. of Lee (STR 558) & Jonathan Rundlett of Nottingham (ROC 136).

1820C:  


no Samuel Langley in Lee (but many Langleys in Nottingham, ROC:  Anderson 152, Benj. 152, Caleb 153, Jno. 148, Jos. 152, Moses 148, Thos. 146, Timothy 152).  Charles McCoy (ROC 152) in Nottingham.  Jno Rundlett of Nottingham (ROC 145)

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

David Rundlett, Jr.

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:

[no]

Occupation:

husbandman

no hhld

Town:


Lee

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Samuel Langley

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[43]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:

husbandman

no hhld

Town:


Lee

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Miss Elizabeth McCoy

Ethnicity:

[Scots-Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


young adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

single

Children:

n


Occupation:



Town:


Nottingham

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:


1820, Jan. 18  




Stratham, ROC

P

CT

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE FATHER by SON

Motive:  MENTAL ILLNESS

Intox?:  

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Joshua Chase Wiggin m. Levi Wiggin


Weapon:  knife


Circumstances:  knifed in the groin at house of LW.  d. inst.  "attempting to prevent his son" JCW "from passing out at the door of the house of the deceased.  


Inquest:  i.d. 1/20/1820, Benjamin P. Sheriff, gent., cor.  Verdict:  "by misfortune, & contrary to the will of the said Joshua Wiggin."  Manslaughter.  "did kill & slay."  Witnesses:  Jane Wiggin, Dolly Wiggin, Mary Jane Wiggin, William Wiggin, Benjamin Norris, Henry Kenniston, Daniel Wiggin, David Lang, George Lane, Henry Wiggin, Bemsley Pottle, Ira Weeks, Daniel Veasey, Thomas French, Mark Pinnes, Greenlief Brown, David Dimon, William Burton, Benjamin Jewitt, James Odel, Jr., & Phineas Nichols (of Stratham); Nathaniel Peabody, Freese Dearborn, Hannah Pike, & Amos Proctor (of Exeter); Andrea Hall, Jr., Charles Rand, Henry Wiggin, John Kennard (of Newmarket); Noah Barker (of Newington); Charles Brown (of Greenland); Joshua Bean (of Nottingham).


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  9/1820t:  ind. for murder.  pNG by reason of insanity.  fG of mansl.  5 yr. & c.  (completed sentenced)

Source:  

Roc. Co. SCJ:  21:  367-8


Roc. Co. CF:  B #374 & #1576

Newspapers:

New Hampshire PATRIOT, 1/25/1820:  HOM in Stratham, 1/21, Levi Wiggin (55), worthy & respectable citizen, stabbed by his son in a fit of derangement or passion, almost inst.  Won't give particulars, as not certain of accuracy; judicial inquiry at present.  [FCab, 1/29:  stabbed with shoe knife, d. next day.  Centinel]


NEW HAMPSHIRE PATRIOT, 10/10/1820:  HOM:  Joshua C. Wiggin of Stratham, murdered his father in fit of passion in January, 1820, fG of manslaughter.  Defense argued he was insane at the time of the crime.

Census:  

1820C:  Jane Wiggin of Stratham (ROC 436):


M 10, 16, 26  //  F 16, 26, 45



NOTE:  a Joshua Wiggin in Exeter (ROC 208) [[CHECKED:  not the same person; large hhld, 45+]].  Many Wiggins in Stratham.

1810C:  a Levi Wiggin in Ossipee (STR 757)

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Joshua Chase Wiggin

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


23

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:




Occupation:

yeoman

no hhld

Town:


Stratham

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Levi Wiggin

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


55

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Jane

Children:

yes, many

Occupation:

"worthy and respectable"

hhld

Town:


Stratham

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1820, Apr.




Portsmouth, ROC

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   SUS / NAT and AGA

Rela:    RELATIVE MOTHER by DAUGHTER

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Hannah Jackson a. Mrs. Mary Miller (her mother)


Weapon:  beating


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  verdict:  apoplexy, after autopsy was performed.


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Newspaper:  


New Hampshire PATRIOT:  4/18/1820:  SUSPICIOUS DEATH, POSS HOM IN Portsmouth:  INQUEST:  Mrs. Mary Miller (63) found dead on her bed, suspicions excited that the death was by violence.  Witnesses said she had been frequently beaten by her daughter, Hannah Jackson, a mulatto, in whose house she lived.  Strong evidence agst daughter--at one point 16 of 18 jurors agreed that she came to her death by blows received fr. her daughter.  But at end of all-day inquest, surgical examination of the internal parts proved satisfactorily that apoplexy the cause of death.


[NOTE  THE MEDICAL TECHNIQUES HERE]

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Hannah Jackson

Ethnicity:



Race:


mulatto

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Portsmouth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Mrs. Mary Miller

Ethnicity:



Race:



Gender:

f

Age:


63

Literate:




Marital Status:




Children:

yes

Occupation:



Town:


Portsmouth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Suspect(s








